
NOTICE

OF

MEETING

SCHOOLS FORUM
will meet on

TUESDAY, 5TH JULY, 2016

At 2.30 pm

in the

COUNCIL CHAMBER - TOWN HALL, 

TO: Head Teacher Representatives: Isabel Cooke, Richard Pilgrim (Chairman), Heidi
Swidenbank, Helen McHale, Alison Penny, Nick Stevens (Vice-Chairman), Stuart Muir,
Ania Hildrey, Heather Clapp, Mike Wallace, Chris Tomes, Amanda Hough and Martin
Tinsley.

Governor Representatives: Hugh Boulter and Jo Haswell.

Non- School Representatives: Gina Kendall and Gillian May.

Karen Shepherd - Democratic Services Manager - Issued: 27/06/2017

Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part I of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s 
web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Panel Administrator  

Fire Alarm - In the event of the fire alarm sounding or other emergency, please leave the building quickly and calmly 
by the nearest exit.  Do not stop to collect personal belongings and do not use the lifts.  Congregate in the Town Hall 
Car Park, Park Street, Maidenhead (immediately adjacent to the Town Hall) and do not re-enter the building until told 
to do so by a member of staff.

Recording of Meetings – The Council allows the filming, recording and photography of public Council meetings. This 
may be undertaken by the Council itself, or any person attending the meeting. By entering the meeting room you are 
acknowledging that you may be audio or video recorded and that this recording will be available for public viewing on 
the RBWM website. If you have any questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to the Democratic 
Services or Legal representative at the meeting.

Public Document Pack

http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/


AGENDA

PART I
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO

1.  APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence.
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest.
 

5 - 6

3.  MINUTES

To approve the minutes of the Schools Forum on 8 March 2016 and 13 April 
2016.
 

7 - 22

4.  GROWTH FUND 2016-17 TO 2018-19

To agree the future growth funding methodology for the three financial years 
starting in 2016-17
 

23 - 36

5.  REQUEST FROM COX GREEN FOR GROWTH FUNDING IN 2016-17

Request from Cox Green in light of revised growth fund proposals.
 

Verbal

6.  2015-16 SCHOOLS BUDGET OUTTURN, DSG RESERVE, & 
SCHOOL BALANCES

To note the final outturn position for 2015-16.
 

37 - 46

7.  SEND FUNDING PROGRESS UPDATED

To receive a verbal update on work to align top-up funding with  Education, 
Health and Care plans.
 

Verbal

8.  FUNDING REFORM 2017-18 AND BEYOND

To provide further information, if available, on second stage consultation on 
Government’s funding reforms
 

Verbal





This page is intentionally left blank



MEMBERS’ GUIDANCE NOTE 
 

DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS 
 
 

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS (DPIs) 
 
 
DPIs include: 
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any 
expenses occurred in carrying out member duties or election expenses. 

 Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed 
which has not been fully discharged. 

 Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority. 

 Any license to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

 Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in 
which the relevant person has a beneficial interest. 

 Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where  
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority, 
and  
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class belonging to the relevant person exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS 
This is an interest which a reasonable fair minded and informed member of the public would 
reasonably believe is so significant that it harms or impairs your ability to judge the public 
interest. That is, your decision making is influenced by your interest that you are not able to 
impartially consider only relevant issues.   
 
DECLARING INTERESTS 
If you have not disclosed your interest in the register, you must make the declaration of 
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as you are aware that you have a DPI or  
Prejudicial Interest.  If you have already disclosed the interest in your Register of Interests 
you are still required to disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.  
A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the 
item but  must not take part in discussion or vote at a meeting. The term ‘discussion’ 
has been taken to mean a discussion by the members of the committee or other body 
determining the issue.  You should notify Democratic Services before the meeting of your 
intention to speak. In order to avoid any accusations of taking part in the discussion or vote, 
you must move to the public area, having made your representations.  
 
If you have any queries then you should obtain advice from the Legal or Democratic Services 
Officer before participating in the meeting. 
 
If the interest declared has not been entered on to your Register of Interests, you must notify 
the Monitoring Officer in writing within the next 28 days following the meeting.  
 
 
 

5

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



SCHOOLS FORUM

WEDNESDAY, 13 APRIL 2016

Present: Isabel Cooke, Richard Pilgrim (Chairman), Alison Penny, Stuart Muir, Ania Hildrey, 
Mike Wallace, Chris Tomes, Martin Tinsley, Hugh Boulter and Jo Haswell.

Officers: Edmund Bradley, Kevin McDaniel and David Cook

APOLOGIES 

Apologies for absence were received from Helen McHale, Heather Clapp, Heidi Swindenbank, 
Ann Entwistle, Amanda Hough and Nick Stevens,

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest received.

DFE SCHOOLS NATIONAL FUNDING FORMULA - CONSULTATION STAGE 1 

The Schools Forum were informed that the special meeting had been called to agreed the 
Forums submission to the Governments consultation.  It was noted that the Local Education 
Authority would be making their own separate submission.

The Forum approved the following responses:

Principles for a reformed funding system

1 Do you agree with our proposed principles for the funding system?
Yes

Please provide any further comments::
All principles are valid and sensible

The structure of the funding system

2 Do you agree with our proposal to move to a school-level national funding formula in 2019-
20, removing the requirement for local authorities to set a local formula?

Yes

Please provide any further comments:

The timetable for hard formula implementation and subsequent application of a MFG must be 
sufficient to allow planning for staff changes and/or restructuring.
If additional funding was deemed to be necessary to meet a local need, each school would 
need to contribute on a voluntary basis unless a local formal agreement was established 
which is unlikely to be straightforward.

Building block A: per-pupil costs

3 Do you agree that the basic amount of funding for each pupil should be different at primary, 
key stage 3 and key stage 4?
Yes

Please provide any further comments:

7

Agenda Item 3



The stage 2 detail will be important - particularly the differential between primary and KS3 
being kept to modest levels and the very significant increase in secondary costs being 
recognised at KS4.

Building block B: additional needs factors

4a Do you agree that we should include a deprivation factor?
Yes

4b Which measures for the deprivation factor do you support?
Pupil- and area-level

Please provide any further comments:

The review of IDACI every 5 years causes step changes in funding for some schools. This 
does not adhere to the fundamental principle of predictability.

5 Do you agree we should include a low prior attainment factor?
Yes

Please provide any further comments:
In principle, we agree that this is necessary to support schools with significant numbers of low 
prior attainers. The stage 2 detail will be will be important.

6a Do you agree that we should include a factor for English as an additional language?

Yes

6b Do you agree that we should use the EAL3 indicator (pupils registered at any point during 
the previous 3 years as having English as an additional language?
Yes

Please provide any further comments:
If there had been an option to choose EAL4 or 5 we would have given it serious consideration 
as the need still presents itself in that time period.

Building block C: school costs

7 Do you agree that we should include a lump sum factor?
Yes

8 Do you agree that we should include a sparsity factor?
Not Answered

Please provide any further comments:
No relevant experience in order to form an opinion

Building block C: other school costs

9 Do you agree that we should include a business rates factor?
No

10 Do you agree that we should include a split sites factor?
Not Answered

11 Do you agree that we should include a private finance initiative factor?
Not Answered

8



Please provide any further comments::
No opinion

12 Do you agree that we should include an exceptional premises circumstances factor?
Not Answered

Please provide any further comments::
No opinion

13 Do you agree that we should allocate funding to local authorities in 2017-18 and 2018-19 
based on historic spend for these factors?

Yes/No - Business rates:
Yes

Yes/No - Split sites:
Yes

Yes/No - Private finance initiative:
Yes

Yes/No - Other exceptional circumstances:
Yes

Building block C: growth

14 Do you agree that we should include a growth factor?
Yes

Please provide any further comments:

The funding system must be predictable. Given the proposals in the White Paper to 
academies all schools and the duty of LAs to provide places, we are
interested to find out how. in practice. place planning will work.

15 Do you agree that we should allocate funding for growth to local authorities in 2017-18 and 
2018-19 based on historic spend?
Yes

Please provide any further comments:
A system based on known future costs would be preferable.

Building block D: geographic costs

16a Do you agree that we should include an area cost adjustment?
Yes

16b Which methodology for the area cost adjustment do you support?
general labour market methodology

Factors not included in the formula

17 Do you agree that we should target support for looked-after children and those who have 
left care via adoption, special guardianship or a care arrangements order through the pupil 
premium plus, rather than include a looked-after children factor in the national funding 
formula?
Yes

9



18 Do you agree that we should not include a factor for mobility?
No

Please provide any further comments:

This is a serious issue for some schools particularly in the light of current migration patterns. 
We queried whether there was more recent research data available
to gauge the impact of mobility on school budgets.

19 Do you agree that we should remove the post-16 factor from 2017-18?
Yes

Transition to the reformed funding system

20 Do you agree with our proposal to require local authorities to distribute all of their schools 
block allocation to schools from 2017-18?

Yes

Please provide any further comments::
On the basis of predictability this is the right answer. However, we could not reach agreement 
on how a shortfall in high needs funding could be met once the
ability to transfer funds between blocks is removed.

21 Do you believe that it would be helpful for local areas to have flexibility to set a local 
minimum funding guarantee?

Yes

Please provide any further comments:

Due to the current variance in funding across LAs, the new model may initially provide 
insufficient funds to meet needs.

Funding remaining with local authorities

22 Do you agree that we should fund local authorities' ongoing responsibilities as set out in 
the consultation according to a per-pupil formula?
Yes

23 Do you agree that we should fund local authorities' ongoing historic commitments based on 
case-specific information to be collected from local authorities?

Yes

The education services grant

24 Are there other duties funded from the education services grant that could be removed 
from the system?

Please provide your comments::
No opinion

25 Do you agree with our proposal to allow local authorities to retain some of their maintained 
schools’ DSG centrally – in agreement with the maintained schools in the schools forum – to 
fund the duties they carry out for maintained schools?

10



Yes
Please provide any further comments::

Once the detail is clear it will be easier to form a view on this question

 

DFE HIGH NEEDS FUNDING FORMULA AND OTHER REFORMS - 
CONSULTATION STAGE 1 

Principles for a reformed funding system

1 Do you agree with our proposed principles for the funding system?
Yes

Should there also be a principle to support early intervention?

The Forum queried whether a formula-driven and transparent principle is rather undermined 
by the phrase " it is not necessary or desirable to have complete
consistency across the country" on p20 of the paper.

Distributing high needs funding to local authorities

2 Do you agree that the majority of high needs funding should be distributed to local 
authorities rather than directly to schools and other institutions?

Yes

Please provide any further comments:
However, schools must be able to rely on the transparency principle so that forward planning 
and future proofing are enabled.

3 Do you agree that the high needs formula should be based on proxy measures of need, not 
the assessed needs of children and young people?

No

Please provide any further comments:

There is more work to be done on the measures to capture all additional needs. For instance, 
we could not see where so-called high-functioning autistic children's
needs would be met. We were also concerned that the wording of the question is likely to 
provoke an emotive rather than a well-informed response.

Formula design

4 Do you agree with the basic factors proposed for the formula?
Yes/No - Basic entitlement:

Agree

Yes/No - Population:

Agree

Yes/No - Child health:

Disagree
11



Yes/No - Child disability:

Agree

Yes/No - Low attainment at key stage 2:

Disagree

Yes/No - Low attainment at key stage 4:

Disagree

Yes/No - Deprivation - free school meal eligibility:

Agree

Yes/No - Deprivation - income deprivation affecting children index:

Agree

Yes/No - Adjustments - for "imports/exports":

Agree

Please provide any further comments:

There is limited confidence in the accuracy of data captured through census checks and even 
less through NHS records, to secure up-to-date, current data sets
for strategic budget planning at school level.

5 We are not proposing to make changes to the distribution of funding for hospital education, 
but would welcome views as we continue working with representatives of this sector on the 
way forward.

Please provide your comments::
No opinion

6 Which methodology for the area cost adjustment do you support?

general labour market methodology

Please provide any further comments:

Managing a smooth transition

7 Do you agree that we should include a proportion of 2016-17 spending in the formula 
allocations of funding for high needs?

Yes

Please provide any further comments:

8 Do you agree with our proposal to protect local authorities' funding through an overall 
minimum funding guarantee?

Yes

12



Please provide any further comments::

The inclusion of an on-going damping mechanism to smooth out step changes in funding 
would be a welcome addition.
Changes to the way high needs funding supports mainstream schools

9 We welcome views on what should be covered in any national guidelines on what schools 
offer for their pupils with special educational needs and disabilities.

10 Do you agree with the proposed changes to the funding of special units in mainstream 
schools?

Agree

11 We welcome examples of local authorities that are using centrally-retained funding in a 
strategic way to overcome barriers to integration and inclusion.

12 We welcome examples of where centrally-retained funding is used to support schools that 
are very inclusive and have a high proportion of pupils with particular types of special 
education needs, or a disproportionate number of pupils with high needs.

Please provide any comments:

There is evidence that where a school gets a reputation for excellent provision for high needs 
children, that reputation drives attraction and there becomes an
uneven distribution of high needs children across the LA.

Changes to the way high needs funding supports independent special schools

13 Do you agree that independent special schools should be given the opportunity to receive 
place funding directly from the Education Funding Agency with the balance in the form of top-
up funding from local authorities?

Disagree

Please provide any further comments:

It rather depends on whether the ISS is within the LA and impacts on its budget.
Changes to the way high needs funding supports post-16 providers.

14 We welcome views on the outline and principles of the proposed changes to post-16 place 
funding and on how specialist provision in further education colleges might be identified and 
designated.

Please provide any comments:

Any scheme which gives greater simplicity would be welcome.

The meeting, which began at 9.30 am, finished at 11.55 am

CHAIRMAN……………………………….

DATE………………………………..........

13



This page is intentionally left blank



SCHOOLS FORUM

TUESDAY, 8 MARCH 2016

PRESENT: Head Teacher Representatives: Isabel Cooke, Richard Pilgrim (Chairman) 
Heidi Swidenbank, Amanda Hough, Alison Penny, Nick Stevens (Vice-Chairman), 
Stuart Muir, Hugh Boulter, Ania Hildrey, Mike Wallace, Chris Tomes and Heather 
Clapp.

Non- School Representatives: Gina Kendall.

Officers: Edmund Bradley, Kevin McDaniel and Karen Shepherd

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

None received

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

None received

MINUTES 

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the minutes of the meeting held on 19 
January 2016 be approved.

MEMBERSHIP 

A revised membership list was circulated. As discussed at the last meeting, a number 
of vacancies had arisen because of conversions to academy and the impact on pupil 
numbers on the relative representations on the Forum. There were three academy 
vacancies. It was noted that Stuart Muir was to take up the first vacant academy post. 
The resulting vacancy for a maintained secondary representative would be filled by 
Chris Tomes of Charters. The other two academy vacancies would be filled by 
Amanda Hough of St Luke’s and Jo Haswell of Forest Bridge.

It was noted that Dedworth Middle had not yet converted to academy, however this 
was anticipated in the next two months. 

DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT AND PLANNED EXPENDITURE 2016-17 

The Forum considered RBWM’s 2016-17 expenditure plans for services funded by the 
schools, high needs and early years blocks of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 
and other grants. The Forum was asked to approve a number of central expenditure 
budgets where required under regulation.

As reported at the last meeting, the DSG settlement was £104.842m, an increase of 
£1.234m on the previous year as a result of the increase in pre-16 pupil numbers. 
Table 2 gave details of the breakdown of the total settlement. In the schools block; 
£39m related to the Academies delegated budget which would be topsliced from the 
local authority’s DSG allocation. This would change during the year as more schools 
converted to academy. Table 3 illustrated the total funding available (£113.7m) for the 

Public Document Pack

15



schools budget including high needs, early years and the post-16 grant. Pupil 
premium allocations were only included for early years (£72,000).

Table 4 illustrated the proposed expenditure for 16/17. Schools block planned 
expenditure would reduce to 78.9% (from 79.4% in 15/16) to cover an increase in 
budget required for high needs to 14.8%. Changes were detailed in section 3 of the 
report and the appendix. For the schools block the funding delegated through the pre 
16 formula had increased by £770,000. At the same time post-16 funding had reduced 
by £563,000. There was an additional proposal to reduce funding for the growth fund 
by £278,000. Planned expenditure on high needs would increase by £730k, funded by  
increased funding for high needs (£316,000) announced in the December 2015 
settlement, and a transfer of £414,000 from early years and the schools block.

It was confirmed following a question from the Chairman that the changes were for 
noting, subject to approvals later in the agenda. Expenditure from the high needs 
block (e.g. Manor Green) did not require Schools Forum approval.

The Chairman commented that the use of sixth form figures that were 18 months out 
of date to allocate post 16 funding was odd given the amount of money involved. He 
suggested feedback to highlight that the latest figures should be used. The Finance 
Partner explained that all post-16 funding received by the LA from the EFA went 
directly to schools so there was no impact on the budget. The reduction in the post-16 
budget was the result of falling numbers. The main pressure was in high needs, from 
continued growth at Manor Green and Forest Bridge. There had been some re-
allocation to try to fund this as local provision was now available but this had not come 
through as much as had been expected.

Table 5 illustrated spending by block. Authorities are able to move funding between 
blocks and many did so. In 15/16 planned schools block expenditure had totalled 
£89.8m. The council’s schools block allocation was£90.6m therefore the unspent 
£780,000 had funded additional expenditure in high needs. Table 6 illustrated 
proposed allocations for 2016/17. The plan was to borrow a larger amount from the 
schools block than in previous years to fund high needs. Table 7 demonstrated that 
much high needs funding was used to fund services in mainstream schools.

The Chairman commented that all other aspects of funding had to be backed up by 
value for money statements. It was difficult to assess value for money with high needs 
spending. A transparent discussion was needed, particularly if high needs funding was 
increasing. Isabel Cooke commented that many schools managed behaviour until they 
were unable to any more. The education of the average child was compromised year 
on year because of pressure on schools; a group of children received education far in 
excess of the average child. The Chairman highlighted that the key question was 
whether interventions made a clear impact or not. 

It was noted that increased high needs expenditure was a common theme for most 
local authorities. The Finance Partner explained that whereas school funding 
increased based on pupil numbers, high needs funding was based on historical spend. 
The Head of Schools and Educational Services commented that it was a common 
view among borough headteachers that there was an increasing number of children 
with additional needs. At the top end of the spectrum children’s needs were becoming 
more complex and needed new interventions. It was noted that 25% of the funding 
was spent on high needs in a mainstream setting. The Head of Schools and 
Educational Services referred to a government consultation of 30 schools on the top 

16



up for primary children with autism. The levels provided ranged from £2,000 to 
£25,000 for the same pupil description. The Schools Forum could scrutinise whether 
the balance was correct for borough schools.

Heather Clapp commented that as a child got older their needs often become more 
complex. If interventions are not made at an appropriate early stage then the situation 
just became worse later on. It was not the case that one size would fit all. Chris Tomes 
referred to a recent Westminster Briefing he had attended. It was stated that the issue 
of differing levels of funding for high needs was a significant issue and it would be 
addressed through the national funding formula. It would be useful to know where 
RBWM stood in comparison to other local authorities. 

The Chairman commented that it would be important for the Forum to respond to the 
consultation, which closed on 17 April 2016. It was noted that this consultation 
covered core funding and high needs; early years would be part of a later consultation 
expected in May 2016. All feedback would go into a second round of consultation to 
include proposals, with the aim of establishing a national funding formula that would 
determine LA DSG allocations for 17/18. The Finance Partner commented that it was 
being referred to as a ‘soft’ formula as LAs would continue to have flexibility in their 
local formulae to allocate funding to schools. A local funding formula would still be 
required for the next two years. By 2019 school funding allocations would be 
determined centrally, ‘the hard formula’, and therefore the role of the Forum would 
change. One of the main changes for 2017-18 would be an additional funding block for 
central schools to fund strategic functions such as admissions. A second stage of 
consultation would look at the specific funding rates to be used in the national formula. 
Chris Tomes commented that at the Westminster Briefing it was stated by the DfE that 
DSG would be replaced by a flat rate approach for the next four years. 
Representatives from the academies then agreed that as there had been a real term 
cut of 9-12% it was important to get ahead of this. There had been some discussion of 
protection in the first year.

Heidi Swidenbank left the meeting at 3.12pm.

The Chairman suggested a separate meeting be set up to discuss the wider issues. 
He proposed that approval of pre-16 pupil growth be set to one side.

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That Schools Forum:

i) Agree the expenditure proposals outline in the paper
ii) Formally approve the planned schools and early years central 

expenditure budgets set out in table 8, 9 and 10 (paras 4.3 and 4.6), as 
required under School Finance Regulations.

GROWTH FUND 2016-17 

The Forum considered proposed changes to the growth fund for 2016/17.

The Chairman commented that he had received a number of representations on this 
report, in particular the clawback options in paragraphs 3.4 and 3.5. Due to the 
complexity of the existing scheme, a new scheme was proposed.

The Head of Schools and Educational Services explained that the proposal set out a 
logical approach to school place planning taking into account Schools Forum 

17



comments from the meeting in January 2016 and other comments received since. He 
then commented on the proposed eligibility criteria, which applied to all types of 
schools including academies and free schools as detailed in section 4.1:

 1 & 2 – no changes were proposed
 3 – the change would ensure that places would be reliably available.
 4 – this was the biggest change. Funding through the growth fund would only 

be allocated when an additional teacher was required. This would mean 
schools could employ staff earlier.

 5 – the change recognised that additional funding would be required for every 
year an extra class was needed. A typographical error was noted that the 
section should read ‘5 years in a  secondary etc.’

 6 – no change in the assumption that schools receiving growth funding would 
still be expected to operate mixed age classes where their PAN warranted it.

 7 – this was not yet applicable in the borough but if a  new free school was set 
up in response to ‘basic need’, start up costs would fall to the local authority. 
The Head of Schools and Educational Services provided an example from his 
previous authority where a new two-form entry primary was established. The 
local authority had provided £75,000 of start up costs.

It was commented that schools had previously been funded for four years. The 
Finance Partner explained that the growth fund had only been around for two or three 
years. The rules had been changed for 2015/16 following consultation to limit funding 
to three years for all schools.

The Chairman highlighted the difference between primary and secondary in terms of 
the funding rates linked to AWPU. Questions had been raised about the actual costs 
of putting an extra 30 children into a school and the resulting cost of a member of 
staff. In addition queries had been raised about the differing figures of 0.4 and 1 FTE 
for a teaching assistant. The Head of Schools and Educational Services explained that 
the formula had been worked out backwards using the existing pay scales and the 
amount that would have been spent on the Growth Fund. Comments from the Forum 
were welcomed on whether this was a reasonable approach.

Stuart Muir commented that if schools were growing fairly quickly there would be more 
schools that triggered funding but the amount of money would be kept the same. He 
questioned this given expansion was on its way. The Head of Schools and 
Educational Services confirmed that for the current year there were no unfunded 
expansions. The Forum considered table 3 which illustrated that slightly more would 
be spent under the proposed formula than under the current one in 2015/16 but more 
schools would receive funding under the new formula. Over time to 2021, with all 
commitments already made, the proposed scheme would cost £1.4m rather than 
£1.7m. in the old scheme.  Under the old scheme schools faced uncertainty about 
their funding as a result of the clawback mechanism. Under the new scheme, this 
uncertainty was being traded for certainty and a smaller amount of overall funding.

Nick Stevens questioned why the authority was trying to make opportunities for 
schools to expand if less children were anticipated. He cited the example that primary 
numbers were expected to be down by 113 in 2018 compared to 2013. The Head of 
Schools and Educational Services explained that primary expansion was already 
planned to deal with extra children that were anticipated. It was also know that by 
2018/19 the year group would be smaller, but the increase needed to be managed 

18



going through the cycle. The growth fund was important to ensure capacity for those 
moving into the borough, which had a very mobile population.

Hugh Boulter commented that schools such as Furze Platt Senior had already agreed 
with the local authority the number of extra places, with planning based on the current 
financial parameters. The new formula would mean significantly lower finances than 
planning had been based upon. The Chairman commented that there was clear need 
for the formula to change but suggested the decision be delayed until full implications 
were known. The Head of Schools and Educational Services commented that the 
current scheme could continue to operate but some schools would no longer receive 
the funding that they would have received under the new formula, and a number of 
other schools would lose money as detailed in paragraph 5.3. In the past the funding 
formula agreed by the Forum allocated full funding. Feedback was that this was 
unaffordable and unfair, therefore the current proposal had been made.

The Chairman proposed that the decision be delayed by one year given that schools 
had planned agreed expansion based on the current formula.

The Head of Schools and Educational Services commented that in January the Forum 
had made it clear that for a class of 30 pupils in primary and secondary schools,  
£54,000-£73,000 was too much for seven months; now it was being suggested that 
£23,000-£30,000 was not enough. The right balance needed to be established. The 
Finance Partner highlighted that under the current formula costs were met for three 
year only. Under the proposed formula additional costs would be met after this time.

RESOLVED: That:

i) The current formula be retained for a further year
ii) The item be added to the agenda for the next meeting to consider 

changes for the following financial year

(Heather Clapp, Chris Tomes, Ania Hildrey, Gina Kendall, Hugh Boulter, Stuart 
Muir, Isabel Cooke, Alison Penny, Nick Stevens, Amanda Hough and Richard 
Pilgrim voted in favour of the motion. Mike Wallace voted against the motion)

FALLING ROLLS FUND 2016-17 

The Forum considered the possible introduction of a falling rolls fund for 2016-17 to 
support schools with a temporary shortfall or dip in pupil numbers, as requested by the 
Forum meeting in January 2016.

Hugh Boulter left the meeting at 4.09pm.

It was noted that there was one mandatory element as detailed at paragraph 4.2, that 
only schools judged ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ would be eligible.

Proposals for an RBWM scheme discussed in the working group had focussed on the 
following principles:

 Funding would need to be linked to a demonstrable temporary shortfall in 
total pupil numbers compared to the number of pupils the school would 
expect to need in up to three years time, with the school committing to 
maintain the PAN for the next three years of planned admissions.

19



 RBWM’s Education team would have a key role in providing information on 
future need for places in individual schools and areas, in order to assess 
whether a school was eligible for funding.

 Eligibility would need to take account of spare capacity in the school, whilst 
bearing in mind that a school did not need to be at full capacity to be 
‘viable’. 

 Funding should be formula-driven as far as possible, to ensure that funding 
allocations were fair and transparent and not be dictated by the specific 
approach to teaching or structure used by a given school.

 Eligibility for funding would need to be reviewed each year on a school by 
school basis. As circumstances changed, there would be no automatic 
assumption of ongoing funding

The Head of Schools and Educational Services highlighted that for 2015-16 the 
scheme would have to be funded from DSG reserves. The Forum agreed that it was in 
principle supportive of a scheme. The forecast currently was for falling rolls at 
Churchmead as a result of, in part, new free schools. The birth rate had fallen this 
year so it was anticipated that there would be an impact on primary schools in five 
years’ time. However, further new housing development could fill the gap.

The Head of Schools and Educational Services highlighted the starting point was to 
establish a viability level, which was proposed as 70%. The next decision was then at 
what level up to viability should funding be provided and a weighting of 50% on the 
AWPU rate and a cap of 20% of total budget was proposed. It was noted that four 
schools in the borough were currently at a level of less than 70%: Bisham Primary, 
Churchmead, Desborough College and Woodlands Park Primary. Alison Penny 
commented that the PAN figure for Woodlands Park was incorrect; the Head of 
Schools and Educational Services agreed to ensure this was amended.  The authority 
needed to check to see if Desborough College meet the ‘temporary dip’ criteria.

Ania Hildrey left the meeting at 4.19pm.

The Forum considered modelled funding levels using different formula criteria. 

Mike Wallace left the meeting at 4.24pm.

It was noted that most authorities applied a cap, whether on different types of schools 
or an overall proportion.

Alison Penny commented that the issue had affected her school. It was known that 
numbers would increase in future therefore she did not want to merge classes and 
make a good teacher redundant to later have to split the class again and recruit. Chris 
Tomes commented that the retention of good staff was very important, particularly as 
the recruitment market was difficult at the moment. There was currently too much 
provision in Slough so whereas Churchmead was previously taking children from that 
area, they were now not coming through. However there was a big spike coming up 
through years 5 and 6 that would have an impact on Churchmead from 2018 onwards. 
He was supportive of the proposal to ensure good staff could be retained over this 
period.

The Chairman stated that he felt option 1 was the most appropriate model. He felt that 
a cap of £200,000 per school was reasonable. Isabel Cooke suggested a 75% 
proportion of the Growth Fund was an appropriate level. Chris Tomes suggested 80%. 

20



The Head of Schools and Educational Service informed members that the decision 
was technically up to the local authority but he welcomed Forum comments.

Stuart Muir commented that the proposal may cause difficulties for schools already 
expanding and those about to do so. The Head of Schools and Educational Services 
commented that the current scheme did not take funding away. If there was any 
misunderstanding he expected schools to come forward and comment.

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the methodology for a falling rolls fund 
should be 75% of the growth fund with a cap of £200,000 for any individual 
school.

EXTENSION OF FREE ENTITLEMENT FOR 3 AND 4 YEAR OLDS 

The Forum noted that the DfE had received 92 applications from local authorities 
wishing to be part of the expansion to 30 hours free entitlement. Only eight were 
selected for the pilot. The borough had not been invited to take part in the pilot but had 
been asked to join the working group to discuss the outcomes.

SEN FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS 

It was agreed that the item be deferred to the next meeting, at which it should be high 
on the agenda. The Chairman agreed to discuss with colleagues an appropriate 
additional meeting date.

The Head of Schools and Educational Services stated that he was keen to put 
together a working group to discuss secure communication between the borough and 
schools. If First Class was switched off on 1 April 2016 there would be no way to send 
secure pupil data. The one-year cost was £19,000 for the licences.

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the First Class system be funded for one year 
from 1 April 2016 whilst a working group on secure communication discuss 
options available.

The meeting, which began at 2.30 pm, finished at 4.50 pm

CHAIRMAN……………………………….

DATE………………………………..........

21



This page is intentionally left blank

22



1 of 14

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD SCHOOLS FORUM

Date: 05 July 2016 AGENDA ITEM: 4

Title: Revising the Growth fund for 2016-17, 2017-18 and 2018-19

Responsible 
officer:

Kevin McDaniel, Head of Schools and Educational Services

Contact 
officer:

Edmund Bradley, Finance Partner
Ben Wright, Education Planning 
Officer

Email
E-mail

Edmund.bradley@rbwm.gov.uk
Ben.wright@rbwm.gov.uk

1 REPORT SUMMARY

1.1 This paper follows a series of proposals and changes to the Growth Fund provision for 
schools that are expanding the provision to meet agreed basic need demand.  The Schools 
Forum debated further changes in March and determined to maintain the current funding 
approach for 2016-17 while urgently contemplating change again for 2017-18.

1.2 Several schools have expressed dismay about the financial implications of that decision, 
particularly those whose expansions started prior to financial year 2014/15 or those facing a 
claw-back.  Further, a national funding formula is now under consultation which may remove 
Schools Forum control over the growth fund from April 2019.

1.3 Following discussions with all expanding schools expecting additional children in September 
2016 and who are supported by the growth fund, this paper sets out the following: 
 A summary of the regulations which came into force from April 2013 and the history of 

changes to the RBWM growth fund. 
 The expectations of those schools which have commenced expansion between 2011 

and 2016. 
 A proposed funding approach for 2016-17, 17-18, and 18-19 which has been considered 

by all of the impacted schools and a summary of their responses. 
 A summary of the current 2016-17 funding arrangements with a proposal to remove the 

clawback arrangements should the revised proposal not be accepted.

1.4 Schools Forum is asked to agree the future growth funding methodology for the three 
financial years starting in 2016-17.  The three options are:  the revised proposal set out in 
section 4, the modified current scheme set out in section 5, or the current arrangement. 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 To agree the proposed growth funding allocation methodology set out in section 4 which,  
following engagement with all schools directly impacted in the 2016-17 financial year, has 
wide but not unanimous support.  This proposal will remain in force ahead of national 
funding changes.

2.2 In the event the main proposal is not agreed, Forum are asked to agree the proposal to 
remove the “clawback” element of the current formula in light of the potential impact to 
future financial planning for all schools. No more resource will be spent seeking a change to 
the methodology ahead of national funding changes.

2.3 Should neither option be accepted, the growth fund will operate as previously agreed at 
school forum in March 2016 for the next three years and no more resource will be spent 
seeking a change to the methodology ahead of national funding changes.

3 BACKGROUND
23

Agenda Item 4



2 of 14

Regulations
3.1 Under school finance regulations which came into force in 2013-14, local authorities (LAs) 

can topslice the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) in order to create a growth fund to support 
maintained and academy schools which are required to provide extra places in order to 
meet basic need within the authority. In principle, the growth fund is designed to support a 
school temporarily or permanently increasing their PAN on a planned basis to meet basic 
need demands in the area before the census process catches up with pupils in the school. 
This is typically seven months (September to March) for maintained schools and a year for 
Academy schools.

3.2 Regulations make clear that growth fund can only be used to support growth in pre-16 pupil 
numbers and to meet the start-up costs of new schools. Funding is intended to support 
growing schools to meet the cost of additional pupils admitted in the new academic year 
who would not initially be funded through the funding formula.1 

3.3 It cannot be used to support schools in financial difficulty which for maintained schools 
would normally come from a de-delegated contingency budget.

3.4 The Department for Education is currently consulting on a national funding formula which 
will come into effect from April 2019.  The initial consultation suggests that these 
arrangements will include a Growth factor and that the schools forum will continue to 
operate the Growth Fund in the three financial years from 2016-17.  In the event that other 
regulations are brought forward, this scheme will be subject to revision 

History of the Growth Fund in the Borough
3.5 Introduced for 2013-14 in line with national regulations, the Growth Fund methodology has 

changed over time as the result of discussions at the schools forum.  When introduced in 
financial year 2013/14, the fund provided the appropriate phase AWPU for every place in 
each year of expansion.  This replaced the fixed allocations provided in 2011/12 (£15.4k for 
7 months) and 2012/13 (£33.4k for 7 months).  The growth fund is a top-slice from the 
overall DSG and was initially funded by a reduction in the Primary AWPU rate in 2011/12.

3.6 After initial operation, the Forum considered that the formula had been over-generous, 
leading to some schools appearing to gain unduly.  The forum approved a revised, complex 
formula, which came into effect from April 2015 with the following changes: 
 Funding for permanent increases would only be allocated for the first three years.
 Funding would only be allocated for planned increases of ten or more school places. 
 A lump sum of £4,000 per school would be allocated for increases of ten or more pupils, 

and £6,000 for twenty or more, pro rata-ed for part year, in addition to the per pupil 
funding. 

 A clawback mechanism would take account of the difference between planned pupil 
numbers and actual pupils admitted in September.

3.7 At the Schools Forum meeting where this change was agreed, there was an extensive 
discussion about how this change was to be implemented:  for new schemes only or 
retrospectively.  The minutes do not give a clear statement and no broad communication 
has otherwise been made, however in practice the scheme has been applied retrospectively 
in line with the general understanding of those who took part in the discussion and others 
who have actively sought guidance.

3.8 2015-16 was the first year that growth fund allocations would have been subject to 
clawbacks. Initial modelling of the adjustments needed showed that clawbacks could be up 
to £30k or more, equivalent in some cases to 3% of budget. At a meeting on 19 January 
2016 Schools Forum discussed the impact of such a clawback on a school’s ability to plan 

1 Regulations require LAs to provide estimated numbers in the funding formula for new schools which have opened in 
the last seven years and do not yet have pupils in every year group. In RBWM this applies to Braywick Court and 
Holyport College and means that the additional pupils they expect in September 2016 will be funded through the 
formula and not through the growth fund. 24



3 of 14

ahead with certainty. Forum decided that no claw-backs would be made at least until 2016-
17, and that the existing Growth Fund function would be reviewed for 2016-17. 

3.9 A revised proposal was taken to Schools Forum in March 2016 with a proposal for a new 
scheme for 2016-17 which addressed many of the weaknesses of the existing scheme.  
After an extensive discussion, Forum agreed that the new scheme had many merits but 
timing was poor for 2016-17 and decided by a majority vote to stick with the current scheme 
and revisit in July for future years.  The details of this scheme are summarised in section 5, 
however it would result in five schools facing a clawback, one seeing a reduced allocation 
and a further four schools not receiving any growth funding despite having additional pupils 
in school in September 2016. All funding allocated for the year would be distributed to five 
schools with a small contingency in case of a high proportion of late applications for 
September 2016 places.

3.10 The Head of Schools has met with those schools that will have started an expansion (not 
bulge classes) between September 2011 and September 2016 to explain the Growth fund 
position.  As part of that process all schools were asked to outline their understanding of the 
Growth Funding as it applies to their school and what their expectations have been.  This is 
set out in the following table and provides context to the history of the evolution of the 
growth fund.

School Name Current Understanding of Growth Fund as it applies to the school

All Saints Junior Expansion started in 2014.  School was tracking growth fund changes 
and was aware of three year limit and the potential for clawback.  Had 
therefore planned for growth fund this year and, while clawback was 
unexpected and seems unfair as the costs have been incurred, the 
current scheme is acceptable.  Future years could be a challenge if 
further clawback required.

Clewer Green First As a half-form expansion starting in 2013 they understood that they 
had received three years funding and were not expecting further 
money in 2016-17.  The request for a clawback cannot be met from 
their budget in this year, with staffing currently running at 92% of 
budget.

Furze Platt Junior Expansion started in 2013.  School expected full four years funding 
from Growth Fund however has a bigger issue with impact of MFG 
which appears to penalise them for expansion, with gains heavily 
topsliced to support others.  Communications have indicated growth 
funding falling from £27k to zero over five months making planning 
very challenging.

Furze Platt Senior Expansion starts in September 2016 with expectation that revenue 
funding would come at similar level to last year.  Expected to cover 
growth in curriculum capacity across all subjects which is more 
expensive than a single teacher.  Average teacher cost (excluding 
leadership) at school is £49k and funding has to more than cover that 
cost.  Further, the school budget will reduce by 40 x AWPU as a 
previous ‘bulge’ year left the school last summer.   The school was 
directed by the LA to take these extra students.  Therefore, we have 
an even more significant financial challenge managing growth on 
2016-17 whilst facing an overall budget reduction.

Holyport Primary Expansion started in 2011 to add four classes.  School opted to grow 
all year groups at once and expected £29k each year up to 2017/18.  

25



4 of 14

Current proposal of no growth funding and an unexpected £17k 
clawback makes the budget unsustainable.

Knowl Hill Primary New expansion for 2016 which will add 91 places over 3 years, 
researched the growth fund and have planned budget for three years, 
which gives chance to make structural changes.  Understanding of the 
pressure for those primary schools expanding by a whole class every 
year.  Risk of a clawback is unhelpful for such planning.

Oldfield Primary First children arrived in September 2012 and believe they had 
agreement for £53k in each of seven years which is unaffected by the 
Growth Fund changes, of which they were aware.  All classes are 
always full and they require the full 30 place AWPU to ensure that all 
of their pupils are equally treated.

Riverside Primary Expansion started in 2014 following Targeted Basic Need Bid to 
central government.  The school were aware of the three year time 
limit on growth funding and were expecting final allocation in 2016/17.  
Also knew of clawback possibility but could not plan for it and a claim 
for £32k is unaffordable for the school which has already made 
essential staffing commitments for the new academic year

St Edwards First Expansion started in 2013 and business manager had followed 
Growth Funding discussions so school had planned to not receive 
further funding in 2016/17 and is relieved to not be facing any 
clawback.

St Edwards Royal 
Free Middle

Last group of pupils joining school in September 2016 and expansion 
started on expectation of funding in every year, however no written 
information to the school directly at any point.  Typical annual cost for 
a teacher for them is £44k and not receiving growth funding means tha 
the curriculum model will have to change.  Clawback is even less 
affordable.

St. Edmund 
Campion Primary

Expansion started in 2011 and expected £23k each year up to and 
including 2016-17.  Were unaware of changes to Growth Funding 
method and have built budget on this basis.

Wraysbury 
Primary

Expansion started in 2011 with 15 places per year nominal expansion.  
Operated changes to suit increasing pupil numbers.  Were aware of 
Growth Fund discussions and risk of no allocation in 2016/17, however 
set out on expansion with expectation of funding each year to 2017/18.  
Clawback is totally unbudgeted and unfair as staffing commitments 
have already been made.  Expanded schools in general also take 
more pupils after census day and have to carry those pupils for upto a 
year without funding.

3.11 These meetings flagged up two issues that need to be addressed before moving forward:  
equal funding for every pupil and the relationship between expanding schools and the 
Minimum Funding Guarantee process that every local authority uses to reduce budget 
turbulence.

3.12 A number of schools believe that the overall budget DSG receives additional money from 
the Department for Education to allow for these “extra pupils before they are recorded in 

26



5 of 14

their first January census”.  That is incorrect.  The budget allocated for the growth fund 
(£370k for 2016/17and £1.5m for the previous three years) is taken as a slice from the 
schools block allocation based on actual pupil numbers before delegated budgets are 
calculated.  The more that is given to growth fund, the less there is to divide out between 
every school.  The impact of this along with the formula factors (such as deprivation and low 
prior attainment) means that each school receives a different amount per pupil.

3.13 The MFG process is designed to prevent rapid swings in the per pupil budget for a given 
school.  In this scheme, schoosl that see a reduction in this per pupil budget of more than 
1.5% in a given year receive extra funding to replace the loss.  That replacement comes 
from taking budget allocation from those schools with the largest increases in the per pupil 
budget.  The following table shows that there is no correlation between growth in the 
number on roll (at January census for the coming financial year) and the changes in MFG 
per pupil.

School Name 13-14 14-15 15-16 16-17 13-14 14-15 15-16 16-17
All Saints C.of E. Controlled 224 224 260 281 £3,790 £3,866 £3,834 £3,995
Clewer Green CE Aided First School 218 246 266 288 £3,719 £3,636 £3,662 £3,735
Furze Platt Junior School 293 314 333 347 £3,310 £3,346 £3,367 £3,531
Furze Platt Senior School 997 981 1005 957 £4,696 £4,762 £4,804 £4,775
Holyport CE Primary School 350 377 374 378 £3,285 £3,328 £3,378 £3,521
Knowl Hill C of E Academy 69 83 80 91 £5,904 £5,532 £5,489 £5,242
Oldfield Primary School 245 271 300 332 £3,412 £3,426 £3,425 £3,558
Riverside Primary School and Nursery 209 204 223 243 £4,509 £4,723 £4,494 £4,288
St Edmund Campion Catholic Primary 360 378 398 404 £3,302 £3,359 £3,389 £3,501
St Edward's Catholic First School 222 235 254 269 £3,591 £3,560 £3,568 £3,651
St. Edward's Royal Free Middle School 380 401 434 455 £3,932 £3,997 £4,031 £4,040
Wraysbury Primary School 329 362 365 377 £3,490 £3,524 £3,571 £3,754

Pre-16 NOR Post MFG Budget per pupil

3.14 In the absence of a fault in the MFG design and no single “budget per place”, the following 
proposal has been developed such that it could be implemented immediately and 
consistently over the next three years, removing the need for further consideration of this 
tricky issue.

4 PROPOSED SCHEME FOR THREE YEARS FROM 2016-17

4.1 A school is eligible for Growth Funding when the decision to provide an extra class or 
expansion in places is agreed in advance with RBWM and must be related to basic need, 
i.e. as part of RBWM’s plans to ensure there are sufficient schools places in the Borough. 
The increase may be a temporary increase in pupil numbers, a bulge class or a permanent 
increase to the school’s Planned Admission Number (PAN) and the school has to be 
prepared to maintain the spaces for in year admissions as well as the normal admissions 
round.

4.2 Growth funding will not normally be allocated where:
 A school has surplus places and then takes additional children up to the PAN.
 It admits over or increases their PAN at their own choice.
 It is requested to admit additional pupils as a result of appeals, fair access protocol, SEN 

or Children in Care etc. as these pupils do not meet the basic need criteria.

The approach to fairer funding
4.3 The proposal has to accommodate the differing types of school and the different scales of 

expansion over time while being ‘fair’.  The common ground for fairness was to the children 
with the foundation being:  “An expanding school needs to have to the budget to make the 
staffing commitments required to make the extra places available”.

4.4 On that basis, the following table sets out for all expansions underway and planned to start 
admitting pupils by September 2018, defining the scale of the changes in minimum class 
provision over the life of the expansion.  The left side of the table was the starting position of 
the expansion and the right side is the minimum increase in teaching capacity required to 

27



6 of 14

fulfil the expansion.  For example the table indicates that Riverside Primary will grow from 
210 to 360 places by Sept 2018 and will have to add a minimum of 5 classes to achieve 
that.  In the same way Furze Platt Junior will have grown from 180 to 240 places over four 
year and will have had to add a minimum of two classes to achieve it. 

Years Year 
grp
Size

Total 
PAN

School Final 
PAN

Years 
from 
start 

to Sep 
2018

Total
Minimum

New 
Classes

7 45 315 Holyport CE Primary 420 7 4
7 45 315 St Edmund Campion RC Primary 420 7 4
7 45 315 Wraysbury Primary 420 7 4
7 30 210 Oldfield Primary 420 7 7
4 93 372 St Edwards Royal Free Middle 480 4 4
4 45 180 Clewer Green CE 255 5 3
4 45 180 Furze Platt Junior 240 4 2
4 45 225 St Edwards Catholic First 300 5 3
7 30 210 Riverside Primary School & Nursery 360 5 5
4 67 268 All Saints CE Junior 630 4 4
5 180 900 Furze Platt Senior 990 3 3
7 15 105 Knowl Hill 210 3 3
1 30  Homer Bulge Class 2016-17  1 1
1 30 Contingency for one bulge class per year 3 3
5 30  Charters  2 2
5 30 Cox Green 2 2
2 30  Windsor Learning Partnership - WBS  2 2
2 30 Windsor Learning Partnership - WGS 2 2
4 30  Dedworth Middle Phase 1  2 2
4 30  Dedworth Middle Phase 2  1 1

4.5 From this viewpoint, it is then possible to establish for any expansion, a comparable and fair 
measure of support required:  the minimum number of additionally staffed classes. There is 
no requirement for a school to expand in a particular way with the growth funding supplied, 
the minimum class required is the proposed measure to determine a fair funding level and 
for that funding to be paid out over the life of the expansion to enable financial planning.

Financial considerations
4.6 The growth fund is designed to provide support for the 7/12th of a financial year before 

budgets reflect the actual numbers on roll.  For Academies, the EFA will provide the 
additional 5/12th (based on the local Growth model) to recognise the longer period before 
pupil funding catches up.  The Growth Fund is not intended to make up for weaknesses in 
the pupil funding model and therefore one can imagine challenges over time for those 
school where the pupil take up is low and short term pressure for those that are fully 
subscribed from day 1.

4.7 The annual amount allocated for the growth fund is set by the Schools Forum and is taken 
from the schools block of the DSG before delegated budgets are calculated.  For 2016-17 
that allocation is £355k and the remaining budget has been notified to all schools.   For the 
next two years, it is unclear what the scale of the overall DSG will be with the introduction of 
the soft national funding formula.  However in the first round of consultation the DFE asked 
if we agreed with the proposal to use growth funding at the 2016-17 level.  The proposal 
assumes that the Forum would look to make that level of funding available in the 
subsequent two years and we have therefore modelled a total budget of £1.065m.

28



7 of 14

4.8 The weakness of the current model is that original allocations have proven to be 
unaffordable while creating a larger “cliff edge” for those in receipt.  The proposal addresses 
that by attempting to combine both past and future allocations to estimate an “expanded 
class” funding rate and then distribute future money to provide a fair allocation over the life 
of all of the expansions.

4.9 The starting point for the “expanded class funding rate” has been calculated at £60,990 per 
year (£35,577 for 7/12th of a year).  This rate allocates all of the budgeted Growth Fund for 
the current and next two financial years.  This compares favourably with the anecdotal 
average annual cost of a teacher (not including leadership) in RBWM schools as noted in 
3.10, and is higher than the level of funding proposed in the March scheme.  It does not 
differentiate between phases for simplicity of calculation.

4.10 The table on the following page sets out the impact of using that rate for all of the schools 
currently being expanded or starting an expansion by September 2018.  It includes a 
contingency of one class per year given the current pressure on primary places in 
Maidenhead and Ascot.  The table is explained below:

Column a The number of years of expansion at the school from the first September 
with additional children until the earliest of the expansion being complete or 
September 2018.

Column b The assessed number of minimum classes needed to support the 
expansion up to an including September 2018 admissions

Column c The estimated minimum cost based on column b and the 7/12th figure 
calculated from the estimated Growth Fund over the next three financial 
years.

Column d The sum of Growth Funding received so far since the start of expansion to 
March 2016.

Column e The number of years of expansion undertaken to and including September 
2015.

Column f The total amount of funding remaining per school calculated as column c 
minus column d.

Column g The number of years of expansion left in the period from September 2015 
to September 2018. Calculated as column a minus column e.

Column h-j The remaining funding (column f) spread equally across the remaining 
number of years of expansion (column g).

Column k The total of columns h-j to double check column f

4.11 The implications of this proposed model are that:
 all schools with an expectation of receiving funding will now receive some, albeit at 

a lower level than that received in previous years. This is an improvement for 4 
schools.

 New expansions will receive less under this proposal than the current scheme 
which impacts the planning in 16/17 for 2 schools and a further 4 from 2017-18.

 There is no clawback for any school reducing pressure on 5 schools.
 Academy schools will receive additional money equivalent to 5/7th of the amount 

shown for each year to reflect the extended period before pupil-led funding comes 
into play.

29



8 of 14

 a b c d e f g h i j k
School Years 

from 
start to 

Sep 
2018

Total
Minimum

New 
Classes

Total 
Growth

(7/12th @
£35577)

Received so 
far

Years 
funded 
so far

Total still to 
fund up to 
2018-19

Years 
Left to 

2018-19
(max 3)

Sep-16 Sep-17 Sep-18 Total 

   £35577*b   c-d a-e     

Holyport CE Primary 7 4 £142,310 £125,446 5 £16,864 2 £8,432 £8,432  £16,864
St Edmund Campion RC Primary 7 4 £142,310 £125,446 5 £16,864 2 £8,432 £8,432 £16,864
Wraysbury Primary 7 4 £142,310 £125,446 5 £16,864 2 £8,432 £8,432  £16,864
Oldfield Primary 7 7 £249,042 £185,387 4 £63,655 3 £21,218 £21,218 £21,218 £63,655
St Edwards Royal Free Middle 4 4 £142,310 £137,110 3 £5,200 1 £5,200   £5,200
Clewer Green CE 5 3 £106,732 £76,561 3 £30,171 2 £15,086 £15,086 £30,171
Furze Platt Junior 4 2 £71,155 £76,561 3 £0 1 £0   £0
St Edwards Catholic First 5 3 £106,732 £76,561 3 £30,171 2 £15,086 £15,086 £30,171
Riverside Primary School & Nursery 5 5 £177,887 £102,622 2 £75,265 3 £25,088 £25,088 £25,088 £75,265
All Saints CE Junior 4 4 £142,310 £79,492 2 £62,818 2 £31,409 £31,409 £62,818
Furze Platt Senior 3 3 £106,732 £0 0 £106,732 3 £35,577 £35,577 £35,577 £106,732
Knowl Hill 3 3 £106,732 £0 0 £106,732 3 £35,577 £35,577 £35,577 £106,732
Homer Bulge Class 2016-17 1 1 £35,577 £0 0 £35,577 1 £35,577   £35,577
Contingency (one class /year) 3 3 £106,732 £0 0 £106,732 3 £35,577 £35,577 £35,577 £106,732
Charters 2 2 £71,155 £0 0 £71,155 2  £35,577 £35,577 £71,155
Cox Green 2 2 £71,155 £0 0 £71,155 2  £35,577 £35,577 £71,155
Windsor Learning Partnership - WBS 2 2 £71,155 £0 0 £71,155 2  £35,577 £35,577 £71,155
Windsor Learning Partnership - WGS 2 2 £71,155 £0 0 £71,155 2  £35,577 £35,577 £71,155
Dedworth Middle Phase 1 2 2 £71,155 £0 0 £71,155 2  £35,577 £35,577 £71,155
Dedworth Middle Phase 2 1 1 £35,577 £0 0 £35,577 1  £35,577 £35,577

      
Sub total £1,110,632  £1,065,000  £280,693 £417,803 £366,504 £1,065,000

30



9 of 14

4.12 This proposal has been shared with the schools listed in table 3.10 and their comments are 
summarised below:

School Name Comments on the proposals contained within this report

All Saints Junior On balance, I would prefer the proposal in section 4.

Clewer Green First No comments received.

Furze Platt Junior We do understand that the LA needs to review structures and systems 
to ensure that they are all effective and proportionate. The problem is 
that this does have an impact on our school. We must do what is right 
for the children in the school.

I have read through the figures and these do generalise and therefore 
support the borough's views. Data though can show many different 
things and another perspective is not comparing average increase in 
growth fund per pupil but to compare average fund per pupil for 
schools expanding to those not expanding. This does again prove to 
us a link between the MFG topslice and expanding schools budgets.  
For instance; we have a post MFG per pupil funding of £3531 
compared to an average of £4442 for schools supported on the MFG 
and £3692 for schools with a 'static' budget. I know that some smaller 
schools have a higher per pupil funding because of staffing and school 
running cost needs but black and white it is clear that our children are 
worse off than other children and one of the worst off per pupil in the 
borough.

There always has to be winners and losers and someone has to be 
lowest but this, added to the growth fund changes, has had a massive 
impact on our school.
We have balanced a budget at the cost of zero funds for ICT 
development, 1/2 funds for site development and maintenance, 1/3 off 
all resources and educational goods, 1/3 off all software, 1 TA not 
replaced and a leading Maths teacher (ex assistant Head) 0.5 teacher 
not kept in post to name but a few desperate cuts for this year, whilst 
NOR catches up and nc/pensions smooths over.

Again, we know that money is tight in all schools but the jigsaw pieces 
all go together to make a clear overview of impact on our school.

The growth fund just adds to all of this - it is money that we had 
expected and now not receiving. The new formulae may well show 
that we have had 'our full amount' but this is not the full amount that 
we were promised and that we entered a contract with the borough for. 
Other schools may well be happy to sign it off but we must look after 
the children at FPJS and this money is vital to help us maintain what 
we provide until the full NOR hits the budget (as the growth fund sits 
outside MFG calculations).  We do believe that a contract is a contract 
and emails showing an agreement should not be retracted without 
agreement from both parties. We are in a situation of promisery 
estople at present and we must stick fast in the best interest of FPJS.

31



10 of 14

Furze Platt Senior 1. Firstly, we would like to reiterate the point made at Schools’ 
Forum in March that May 2016 is far too late to be making these 
decisions for 2016 – 17 budgets.  We, and other schools, had 
been developing budgets on the financial parameters of the 
current model and the point was made, and accepted at the 
meeting, that it was too late to make changes for 2016.  The 
agreement at the meeting was to stay with the current model 
for one year allowing time to review the formula for 
allocations in a timely and considered manner.  This is still 
the position we support, that any agreed changes are 
implemented in 2017.

2. We do not understand how the inclusion of the table in 3.13 helps 
and why it is used to determine that AWPU should no longer be 
used as a starting point for calculations.  It is impossible to 
compare different models.

3. We agree with the rationale for determining when a school should 
be eligible for growth funding.

4. If we are required to choose from the Recommendations on p1 
we would advocate 2.2. 

5. We strongly reject the proposal in 2.1.
                 
In summary, we urge the Local Authority to proceed with the 2016 -17 
growth funding model in line with the decision made by the Schools 
Forum for the reasons outlined above, our school budget cannot 
withstand any deviation of this potential magnitude at this late stage.
Whilst your latest proposal is an improvement on the original model 
tabled at the last Schools’ Forum, we still have concerns that require 
further evaluation and discussion to take place between individual 
schools, the Schools’ Forum and the Local Authority. We recommend 
these discussions commence as soon as we have closure on 
the 2016-17 issue.

Holyport Primary Obviously we are disappointed not to be getting the amount we 
thought we would get but we do prefer the proposal that is suggested 
in section 4.

Knowl Hill Primary I have read your new proposal and shared it with my finance officers. 
We are happy to go with chart on new document page 8.

Oldfield Primary I have now had the opportunity to discuss this with key Governors and 
my Business Manager.  The Governors and I have reviewed your 
proposal closely, and whilst we understand the arguments regarding 
limited budget and needing to find a fair compromise, this proposal 
effectively offers less than half of the BPPE funding for any other child 
within our school.  Effectively meaning that for their first 7/12ths of the 
year, 30 of the 60 children starting their education at Oldfield School 
do not exist.
Penalising the school and its pupils in this way, whilst still asking us to 
continue expanding each year, makes no sense to us.  We believe 
that every child deserves the same funding and that without this, 
inevitably there will be a direct impact on all the children in the school, 

32



11 of 14

with regards to their learning and progress.
Therefore, we feel that these proposals are unacceptable to Oldfield 
Primary School and we wish to advise you that RBWM are obliged 
under the principle of ”Promissory Estoppel” to continue our funding 
as per our previous agreement with RBWM, that has been in place for 
the last 3 years.

Riverside Primary It seems to us that the new proposal in section 4 is a fair way to 
proceed.

St Edwards First We are in favour of the recommendations made in the proposal in 
section 4.

St Edwards Royal 
Free Middle

We were dismayed that the funding does not cover the full four years 
of expansion in our school and we also are concerned about the 
clawback arrangement.  We have been oversubscribed for pupils 
joining our school in Year 5 each year for over a decade and are 
always full in this cohort.  The only areas the school as a whole has 
not been full at any given point recently is for occasional in-year 
moves in Year 8 and sometimes Year 6.  I am not sure what the 
justification for the clawback is in that case since school funding and 
numbers is usually addressed through AWPU.  The Growth funding 
for expansion is about taking on a significant number of additional 
pupils over a length of time and to help us as a school adjust to this 
new intake.  It is not the case that we were funded to take an extra 27 
pupils in Year 5 and some didn’t materialise. The other issue of 
concern was the level of funding being the same regardless of the age 
of the children; we are not sure why each type of school (nursery, 
primary, middle and secondary) attracts the same £35,577 a year for 
growth funding.
However, we welcome your intervention in this process and even 
though the benefit to our school will be relatively small, we would 
prefer the proposal being made in section 4 rather than remaining in 
the current scheme.

St. Edmund 
Campion Primary

We would like to opt for the recommended methodology set out in 
section 4.

Wraysbury 
Primary

I would make the following comments upon the proposals:-
1. The current scheme provides no further funding to the school 

despite embarking upon expansion with expectation of receiving 
funding until 2017/18.

2. As an expanded school there is often a greater movement of 
pupils to the school after the October Census day meaning that 
the school has to fund those pupils for up to a year without 
funding. 

3. Any future clawback based on the current scheme would be 
unbudgeted and unsustainable by the school.

Following a Full Governors Meeting on 16th May 2016 Wraysbury 
Primary School would prefer that the Proposal in Section 4 is adopted.

33



12 of 14

4.13 On the basis of the comments above there are a number of issues arising:  the authority of 
Schools Forum or Local Authority;  the nature of initial arrangements; and the timeliness of 
budget planning. Each is outlined below.

4.14 A few schools note the expectation of a contract existing between the school and the local 
authority however the funding has always been provided from the Dedicated Schools Grant 
and is subject to the regulations specified by the Government with the grant allocation.  
Specifically the regulations state “Authorities will need to seek approval from Forums to 
retain central funding for all of these services” and lists the services to which this applies 
which includes:  “Funding for significant pre-16 pupil growth (any underspend has to be 
added to the following year’s formula allocations), including new schools set up to meet 
basic need, whether maintained, academy or free school”.

4.15 It is therefore clear that the Schools Forum, as a statutory representative body, is the 
approving body for Growth Funding while the Local Authority officers are tasked to 
undertake the work.  The Schools Forum is asked on an annual basis to review elements of 
the funding regime in their area and to make year on year adjustments as reasonable.  It is 
not within the legal ambit of the local authority to make unilateral amendments to the Growth 
Funding formula. The Schools Forum regulations are clear that a majority vote by the forum 
is binding on all schools.

4.16 The initial arrangements for almost all schools are different to the scheme currently in 
operation or proposed and it is clear that there are differing expectation and for some that 
means a significant change between when the school agreed to expand and what is offered 
now.

4.17 It can be argued that there is moral expectation to carry through on commitments made in 
the past.  The Forum has considered the cost of the initial scheme and have previously 
considered it unaffordable. There is insufficient Growth Fund allocated in 2016-17 and 
future commitments would need to be balanced in 2017-18 and 2018-19 by a reduction in 
the AWPU rates for all schools if the Forum were to consider resetting to the scheme in 
existence at the start of each expansion.  A decision will be required for all future schemes 
too.

4.18 The annual budget setting process is held up by some as a reason to continue without 
change.  No school has been notified of any growth fund for the current financial year and 
therefore no binding commitment has been made for the future.  Further the funding 
approach has been under discussion for an extended period and it is clear that any school 
aware of the current arrangements would be aware of the ongoing debate.

4.19 On balance, the local authority officer recommendation is that the Schools Forum should 
adopt the revised proposal set out in section 4 based on the key principle of providing 
support to secure teaching staff while living within the level of funding the Forum has 
previously considered balanced with main school budgets.  This proposal has the support of 
the majority of schools who have or are expanding, excluding those whose expansions are 
about to start or those who believe there is an historic commitment to a higher funding level.

34



13 of 14

5 THE CURRENT SCHEME

5.1 Six schools that received funding in 2015-16 would have been subject to a clawback as a result of the difference in leavers and joiners in September 
2015 or based on the difference between PAN and their admission number.  From the comments in 3.10, this clawback which totals £60,480 in 
financial year 2016-17 has not be budgeted for and is unaffordable to almost all schools.  It is strongly recommended that should Forum decide to 
continue with the current scheme as set out in the table below, the clawback feature should be dropped and reserves be adjusted at the end of the 
year to balance the overall DSG. 

Increase School F/Y 2013-14 f/y 16-17 Total f/Y 2016-17  Grand Total 

Sep-Mar Apr-Aug Sep-Mar Apr-Aug Sep-Mar Apr-Aug £ Sep-Mar Apr -Aug £
Sep-10 5 St Marys Catholic 8,222 5,800 8,120 5,800 27,942 27,942
Sep-11 15 Holyport CE Primary 24,667 24,361 27,533 76,561 76,561
Sep-11 15 Oakfield First 24,667 24,361 27,533 76,561 76,561
Sep-11 15 St Edmund Campion RC Primary 24,667 24,361 27,533 76,561 76,561
Sep-11 5 St Luke's Primary 8,222 8,120 5,800 22,142 22,142
Sep-11 8 White Waltham 13,156 22,272 9,280 44,708 44,708
Sep-11 15 Wraysbury Primary 24,667 24,361 27,533 76,561 76,561
Sep-12 6 Cookham Dean CE Primary 9,867 9,744 19,611 19,611
Sep-12 9 Furze Platt Infant 14,800 14,616 29,416 29,416
Sep-12 30 Oldfield Primary 49,334 48,722 53,900 151,956 151,956
Sep-13 6 Alexander First 9,867 9,744 19,611 19,611
Sep-13 15 Clewer Green CE 24,667 24,361 27,533 76,561 76,561
Sep-13 15 Furze Platt Junior 24,667 24,361 27,533 76,561 76,561
Sep-13 30 Lowbrook Primary bulge class 49,334 34,801 84,135 84,135
Sep-13 15 St Edwards Catholic First 24,667 24,361 27,533 76,561 76,561
Sep-13 27 St Edwards Royal Free Middle 44,401 43,849 48,860 137,110 137,110
Sep-14 23 All Saints CE Junior 37,352 42,140 79,492 42,140 121,632
Sep-14 5 Braywood CE First 8,120 8,120 8,120
Sep-14 30 Datchet St Mary's - bulge class 48,722 34,801 83,523 83,523
Sep-14 30 Dedworth Green First - bulge class 48,722 50,254 98,976 98,976
Sep-14 30 Homer bulge class 1 48,722 48,722 48,722
Sep-14 30 Riverside Primary School & Nursery - 48,722 53,900 102,622 53,900 156,522
Sep-15 15 Holy Trinity Sunningdale Primary - bulge class 27,533 27,533 27,533
Sep-16 30 Homer bulge class 2 - 53,900 53,900
Sep-16 17 Knowl Hill - 30,893 22,066 52,959
Sep-16 30 Planned bulge class Maidenhead - 53,900 53,900
Sep-16 30 Furze Platt Senior 72,625 51,875 124,500
Sep-16 Contingency 50,000 50,000

Hilltop 21,378 21,378 21,378

401,250 40,601 576,074 46,401 478,598 - 1,542,924 357,358 73,941 1,974,223

Date of 
expansion A/Y 2016/17

f/Y 2015-16F/Y 2014-15
A/Y 2014/15 A/Y 2015/16A/Y 2013/14

35



14 of 14

5.2 A significant amount of resource has been applied to the Growth Fund mechanism since it’s 
inception in 2013-14.  It is strongly recommended that this paper and decision be the final 
discussion of the topic until the national funding formula is published.  It is clear that any variation 
to the scheme will produce winners and losers however this proposal enables all schools to 
receive a consistent level of funding.

36



Schools Forum\ \$rydnfnda.doc.doc

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD SCHOOLS FORUM

Date: 5 July 2016 AGENDA ITEM: 6

Title: 2015-16 Schools Budget Outturn and School balances

Responsible
officer:

Kevin McDaniel, Head of Educational Services

Contact 
officer:

Edmund Bradley
Finance Partner

Tel:
E-mail

01628 796904
Edmund.bradley@rbwm.gov.uk

1 PURPOSE AND SUMMARY

1.1 This paper summarises the final outturn position of the 2015-16 Schools Budget, the funding 
held in the DSG reserve, and the level of maintained school balances held at 31 March 
2016. 

1.2 The key points of the paper are:

 The central schools budget ended the financial year 2015-16 with an overspend of £76k. 
This is funded by a deduction from the DSG general reserve.

 The DSG reserve at the 31 March 2016 was £0.737m, a reduction of £0.253m compared 
with the £0.990m balance the previous year. £0.523m is in earmarked reserves, and 
£0.214m is in the general reserve.

 The balances of RBWM’s 44 maintained schools at 31 March 2016 increased by 
£0.353m (10%) to £3.630m in 2015-161.

 Average surplus balances, as a proportion of budget share, fell slightly compared with 
the previous year, but remain near the DfE upper thresholds of 5% for secondary 
schools and 8% for other schools. 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS:

2.1 That Schools Forum note and comment on the contents of this paper.

2.2 School Forum are asked to consider the DSG reserve, and confirm they are happy with the 
relative balances in the general and earmarked DSG reserves (section 4, para 4.5).

3 SCHOOLS BUDGET OUTTURN 2015-16

3.1 The 2015-16 schools budget of £67.180m is split between £47.198m of maintained schools 
delegated budgets2, (the Individual Schools Budget or ISB), and the £19.982m central 
schools budget. Delegated budgets are treated as spent as soon as they are delegated, and 
more information on maintained school balances is given in part 5 of this paper. The central 
schools budget ended f/y 2015-16 with an overspend of £0.076m (0.4%). This has been 
funded by a reduction in the general DSG reserve (see section 4). 

3.2 Table 1 summarises the final outturn position. 

Table 1 School Budget 2015-16 outturn Budget
£000

Outturn
£000

Over / 
(under) 

£000

%

1 Schools which converted to academies during or before 2015-16 are excluded from 2015-16 figures to ensure a like-for-
like comparison of remaining maintained schools (see paragraph 5.1 for further information).  
2 This excludes £36.548m relating to the delegated budgets of academies which the EFA deducted from RBWM’s 2015-
16 DSG allocation (academy recoupment). 37

Agenda Item 6



Page 2

Maintained schools (Delegated budgets)3 47,198 47,198 0

Non Maintained Nurseries / PVIs 5,080 4,826 (254)
De-Delegated School Budgets 563 582 19
Admissions 342 320 (21)
Schools and EY Support services 930 819 (110)
High Needs 12,226 12,752 526
Alternative Provision 841 758 (83)
Total central expenditure 19,982 20,058 76 0.4%

Total Net expenditure 67,180 67,256 76 0.1%
Funding from reserves (76)

3.3 Although overall central expenditure was less than 1% over budget, a number of issues 
impacted on the budget during the year:

 Non maintained nurseries / PVIs: Early years formula allocations to early years 
settings are based on actual uptake in each term. Lower than expected final numbers of 
mainly three and four years olds resulted in a £254k underspend for 2015-16. Most of 
this (86%) was in the private, voluntary and independent sector, around 15% in 
maintained nurseries and classes. Although uptake is typically lower in the autumn term 
than in the other two terms, the 25% reduction seen across both PVIs and maintained 
settings in autumn 2015 was greater than expected, contributing to the underspend. The 
2015-16 DSG grant for early years, which will not be finalised until July 2016, will be 
adjusted by January 2016 numbers. By this time uptake in RBWM had picked up again, 
so the autumn term drop-off uptake of the free entitlement is not expected to have an 
adverse impact on funding, and no provision for any reduction in grant has been made in 
the year end accounts.

 De-delegated budgets: Where maintained schools agree to ‘de-delegate’ funding for 
central services and these budgets are underspent at the end of the year, the 
underspends are ring-fenced and carried forward in line with DfE guidance, so that they 
are available for use in 2016-17. £395k of de-delegated funding was unspent at the end 
of 2015-16. £157k will be retained for use in 2016-17, and £238k returned to the 
maintained schools whose budgets were topsliced in 2015-16 (see table 2). This funding 
will be allocated pro rata to the relevant amounts which were ‘topsliced’ from each 
school’s delegated budget. It includes those schools which have since become 
academies (see annex A).

Table 2: 2015-16 underspends on de-delegated budgets
De-
delegated 
budget

Underspend 
c/fwd to 
2016-17

Add to 16-
17 de-
delegated 
budget

Return to 
maintaine
d schools

Further information

School 
Contingency

£63k £63k £0 The number of contingency claims 
fluctuates from year to year. There was just 
one claim approved by the Contingency 
Panel in 2015-16 resulting in the £63k 
underspend. The claim was from Eton 
Porny and an allocation of £35k was made 
to support staffing costs of an exceptional 
nature. As school budgets face increasing 
cost pressures, the £63k underspend will 
be added to the 2016-17 budget to help 
meet an expected increase in contingency 
claims in 2016-17.

Behaviour 
support

£44k £44k £0

Staff costs £264k £50k £214k Claims from schools with staff on maternity 

3 Net of Post 16 grant and including maintained nurseries. 38



Page 3

supply cover 
(maternity, 
suspended 
staff, public 
duties)

leave vary each year. Fewer claims in 
2014-15 and 2015-16 have resulted in an 
underspend. We propose to carry £50k of 
the underspend over to 2016-17 budget, 
and to reallocate £214k to schools. 

School 
licenses

£24k £0k £24k Most licenses are now covered by the 
national license arrangement for all publicly 
funded schools. This has reduced the call 
on the de-delegated budget for licenses.

Total £395k £157k £238k

 School and Early Years Support services: most of the £110k underspend related to 
fewer non SEN pupils in independent schools than the four places budgeted at the start 
of the year resulting in a £70k underspend. Reduced staff costs in the SEND schools 
service contributed to the remaining underspend. 

 High Needs: The greatest part of the central expenditure budget is spent on high needs 
pupils (£12.2m). Final outturn for 2015-16 was £526k over budget. Two thirds of this 
reflected the increasing amount of funding allocated through top-up payments mainly in  
the non maintained and independent sector – a combination of increasing numbers of 
pupils, complexity of need, and increased rates in some establishments. The remaining 
third related to an increase in the cost of targeted interventions as a result of  the 
transition to EHC plans.

 Alternative provision: the budget was £83k underspent at the end of the year mainly 
because of difficulties in commissioning new capacity in 2015-16. This resulted in greater 
spot purchasing of agency staff which partly offset the underspend on commissioning 
costs. Additional places have been agreed with Haybrook and other providers for 2016-
17. 

4 DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT RESERVE

4.1 The available DSG reserve at the start of 2015-16 was £0.990m,  split between earmarked 
reserves of £0.286m and general reserves of £0.704m (see table 3). In 2015-16, the main 
movements on the reserve were:
 £0.1m transfer from general reserve to the earmarked school to school support reserve. 

Schools Forum agreed this transfer on 20 October 2015.
 £0.360m transfer from general reserve to a new earmarked reserve for “mental health 

and wellbeing”. Schools Forum agreed this transfer on 7 July 2015.
 A total of £0.299m drawn down from reserves to cover expenditure in 2015-16, £0.223m  

from earmarked reserves, and £0.076km to fund the central DSG overspend.
 £0.047m other transfers to the general reserve.

4.2 These movements result in a net reduction of £0.252m in the DSG reserve in 2015-16 to 
£0.737m, made up of general reserves of £0.214m (table line A) and earmarked reserves of 
£0.523m (table 3 line B).

39



Page 4

Balance 
@31 Mar 

2015
£000

Transfers in 
£000

Transfers 
Out

£000

Spend
£000

Balance 
@31 Mar 

2016
£000

General DSG Reserve A 704 47 (460) (76) 214
School to School Support 56 100  (119) 37

Capacity building for Two year olds 143 0 (58) 85
Support for Children in Care 87 (8) 80

Mental Health & Wellbeing Support 0 360 (39) 321
Total Earmarked reserves B 286 460 0 (223) 523

Total DSG Reserve A+B 990 507 (460) (299) 737

4.3 Funding from the earmarked reserves supported expenditure in the following main areas: 

 School to school support - provision of support to ‘requiring improvement’ schools to 
boost leadership capacity. 

 Early years capacity building – around £35k was spent on support for identifying and 
targeting two years olds to increase uptake of the free entitlement, with the balance 
funding a range of targeted support activities for early years providers. 

 Mental health and wellbeing support – In July 2015, Schools Forum agreed the use of 
£120k per annum for three years from September 2015 to fund a mental health and 
wellbeing support service. Slippage in the timescale for recruiting to this service meant 
that expenditure was less than the £70k expected for the first 7 months.

4.4 £175k of the remaining £213k general reserve will be used in 2016-17 to fund allocations to 
schools under the ‘falling rolls’ arrangements, which the Schools Forum agreed in March 
2016. 

4.5 School Forum are asked to consider the DSG reserve, and confirm they are happy with the 
relative balances in the general and earmarked DSG reserves. 

5 MAINTAINED SCHOOL BALANCES

5.1 This section analyses maintained school balances at the end of 2015-16 and looks at trends 
over the last six years. Detailed information is given in Annex B.

5.2 RBWM’s academies and free schools are not included in the analysis. Local authorities do 
not hold information on academy school balances and the DfE does not publish comparable 
information for academies on its website. Different accounting requirements also make it  
difficult to make like for like comparisons, and, anecdotally, few local authorities include 
academy balances in reports to their schools forums. In May 2016, we asked the RBWM 
academies for information on their balances at the end of August 2015. Three academies 
responded to this request, one refused, and the remaining schools did not reply.

5.3 In order to present the underlying outturn position, balances are shown after deducting 
outstanding loans.

Summary
5.4 At 31 March 2016, there were 44 maintained schools. 43 of these ended the year with a 

surplus balance, one primary school had a deficit. Overall balances totalled £3.630m, 
equivalent to 7.5% of the delegated budget, an increase of £353k (10%) on the balances of 
the same schools compared with last year.

40



Page 5

Table 4: Maintained schools balances at 31 March 2016
School Schools with 

surplus
Surplus 

£000
Schools with 

deficit
Deficit 

£000
Surplus & 

deficits 
£000

Nursery 3 £196 0 £0 £196
Primary 35 £2,673 1 (£50) £2,623
Middle & secondary 4 £393 0 £0 £393
Special 1 £418 0 £0 £418
All schools 43 £3,680 1 (£50) £3,630

5.5 Only the middle / secondary sector has seen a decrease in total balances compared with the 
previous year. All other sectors have seen balances increase, continuing what has been a 
general trend over most of the last six years (see diagram 1). This trend is contrary to most 
South East local authorities where, according to anecdotal evidence, school balances have 
fallen in 2015-16. 

Diagram 1: Total school balances 2010-11 to 2015-16

10-11 11-12 12-13 13-14 14-15 15-16
Nursery 63 133 85 47 145 196
Primary 1,492 1,998 2,273 2,131 2,374 2,623
Secondary 162 576 808 880 487 393
Special 414 138 162 453 272 418

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

£000

Surplus balances
5.6 Schools are funded each year mainly on the number of  pupils on roll and are expected to 

use their resources on those pupils, reserving a small allowance for future planning, projects 
and operational risks. The DfE discourages schools from building up excessive uncommitted 
balances, notionally defined as 5% of budget share for secondary schools, and 8% for other 
schools. 

5.7 At the end of 2015-16, 43 out of 44 maintained schools had surplus balances. The average 
primary school balance was £76k, 8.0% of budget. The average secondary and middle 
school balance was £98k, 4.8% of budget. Whilst these percentage balances are at the 
upper end of the DfE thresholds, they do not differentiate between reserves held for 
committed and uncommitted expenditure. Diagram 2 shows that both primary and secondary 
balances (as % of budget share) have seen a slight fall compared with last year, even 
though primary balances have risen in cash terms. 

41



Page 6

Diagram 2: Average surplus balances as % of budget share

5.8 Within those average balances, there is quite a wide variation at individual school level (see 
diagram 3). 35 out of 36 primary schools had surpluses, ranging from between 0.1% to 
17.3% of budget share, from just over £2k to £194k. 19 of these 35 schools had balances 
above the 8% threshold and 13 of these also had balances above the threshold last year. 

5.9 All four maintained secondary and middle schools had surplus balances, ranging from 1.3% 
to 7.9% of budget share, £26k to £145k. Two of the four schools had balances above the 
5% threshold and one of these also had a balance above the threshold last year.

5.10 Like many other LAs, RBWM does not operate a balance control mechanism to redistribute 
‘excessive balances’, but it is worth noting that if primary school balances were limited to no 
more than 8% and secondary balances to no more than 5%, £659k could be released for 
redistribution. Feedback from schools indicates that around 46% of primary and secondary 
surplus balances is being held for known commitments. This suggests that around £370k of 
‘excessive’ uncommitted balances could be redistributed. 

Diagram 3: Primary and secondary/middle school balances £000 at 31 March 2016

42



Page 7

5.11 Nursery schools and Manor Green Special School are not included in the above analysis 
because these schools are materially different in the way they are funded and operate, and 
their inclusion would distort the analysis. The reason that Cookham Nursery’s balance looks 
high, £150k (60%), is because almost all of the balance relates to Cookham Nursery’s 
function as a teaching school. Grant is paid to the school on an academic year basis.

Committed balances
5.12 Each year schools are asked to provide information on ‘committed’ balances. Whilst 

recognising that schools may interpret commitments differently, the main areas for which 
schools appear to be holding back ‘committed’ funds totalling £1,534k4 include: 

£k %
Repairs and capital works 511 33%
IT and technology 249 16%
Other equipment 206 13%
Goods and services not yet received 152 10%
Extended / teaching school 117 8%
Staff remodelling 87 6%
Unspent grants 81 5%
Health & Safety 81 5%
Other 50 4%

Deficit balances
5.13 Only one primary school, Bisham, ended 2015-16 with a deficit balance of £50k. No middle 

or secondary schools had deficits. 

Loans
5.14 No new loans were requested in 2015-16, and only one maintained school, Trevelyan, had 

an outstanding loan of £30k. This is due to be repaid in full in 2016-17. Two secondary 
academies, the Windsor Boys School and Desborough, had revenue loans when they 
converted and the combined amount outstanding at the end of March 2015-16 was £265k. 
The WBS outstanding loan of £127k is due to be repaid by 31 March 2017, the Desborough 
/ Education Fellowship Trust loan of £138k is due to be repaid in 2019-20. Furze Platt Senior 
had an outstanding loan of £18k. The total amount of loans outstanding with all schools, 
£313k, is just over 8% of net school balances.

5.15 Most maintained schools have now submitted balanced budget plans for 2016-17. Those still 
outstanding who are unable to submit balanced budgets will need to seek approval for a 
licensed deficit / loan on the basis of a sustainable budget recovery plan. 

4 This includes £134k that Cookham Nursery is holding in relation to the teaching school.43



Page 8

ANNEX A Allocation of unspent ‘de-delegated’ budgets

School Name Staff Costs Staff Costs Licences Total

2014-15 2015-16 £
Alexander First School 829 1,042 351 2,222
All Saints C.of E. Controlled 1,856 2,556 563 4,975
Alwyn Infant School 2,552 2,979 622 6,153
Bisham School 961 1,052 353 2,366
Boyne Hill CE Infant School 1,491 1,760 451 3,703
Braywood CE First School 1,110 1,396 401 2,907
Burchetts Green CE Infant School 555 - 555
Cheapside CE Primary School 928 1,131 364 2,422
Clewer Green CE Aided First School 2,038 2,615 571 5,224
Cookham Dean CE Aided Primary 1,483 1,730 447 3,661
Cookham Rise Primary School 1,699 1,986 483 4,168
Courthouse Junior School 3,223 3,953 757 7,933
Dedworth Green First School 1,177 1,475 412 3,063
Eton Porny C of E First School 1,085 1,249 380 2,714
Eton Wick C.E. First School 1,259 1,396 401 3,056
Furze Platt Infant School 2,229 2,655 576 5,460
Furze Platt Junior School 2,602 3,274 663 6,539
Hilltop First School 1,715 2,065 494 4,274
Holy Trinity CE Primary School 1,715 2,104 499 4,319
Holy Trinity CE Primary School 1,757 2,075 495 4,326
Holyport CE Primary School 3,124 3,677 719 7,520
Homer First School 1,715 2,035 490 4,240
Kings Court First School 1,798 2,183 510 4,491
Knowl Hill CE Primary School 688 - 688
Larchfield Primary School 1,533 1,799 457 3,789
Oakfield First School 2,221 2,763 591 5,575
Oldfield Primary School 2,245 2,950 617 5,813
Riverside Primary School and Nursery 1,686 2,055 493 4,234
South Ascot Village  School 1,740 1,996 484 4,220
St Edmund Campion Catholic Primary 3,132 3,913 752 7,797
St Edward's Catholic First School 1,947 2,497 554 4,999
St Luke's CE Primary School 1,889 - 1,889
St Michael's CE Primary School 1,740 2,035 490 4,265
St. Francis Catholic Primary 1,740 2,065 494 4,299
The Queen Anne RF CE First 1,193 1,445 408 3,046
The Royal School 820 973 342 2,135
Trinity St Stephen CE First 1,119 1,416 403 2,938
Waltham St. Lawrence CP School 1,027 1,219 376 2,623
Wessex Primary School 3,472 4,031 768 8,271
Woodlands Park Primary School 994 1,396 401 2,791
Wraysbury Primary School 2,999 3,589 707 7,295

- - -
Dedworth Middle School 3,704 4,483 831 9,019
Trevelyan School 3,754 4,316 808 8,878
ST PETERS C.E. MIDDLE SCHOOL 1,980 - 1,980
St. Edward's Royal Free Ecumenical Middle School 3,323 4,267 801 8,391
Newlands Girls School 7,648 8,908 1,449 18,005
The Windsor Boys' School 5,560 - - 5,560
Windsor Girls' School 4,532 - - 4,532
CHURCHMEAD C of E (VA) SCHOOL 3,845 4,061 772 8,678

105,434 108,566 24,000 238,000
44



Page 9

ANNEX B Maintained School Balances at 31 March 2016

School

Balance 
excl Loans 
@ 31 Mar 

2015

Surplus 
balance 

excl loans 
@31 Mar 

2016

Deficit 
balance excl 

loans
Movement in 

balances 

Balance 
above 5% 

(sec) or 8% 
(others) 
threshold

Nursery
Cookham Nursery 150,369 150,134 60.2% (235) 130,194
Maidenhead Nursery (6,623) 19,461 6.6% 26,084
The Lawns Nursery 846 26,742 5.6% 25,896

144,592 196,337 0 19.2% 51,745 130,194
Primary
Alexander First 68,866 55,584 9.2% (13,282) 7,311
All Saints CE Junior 92,592 194,078 17.3% 101,486 104,280
Alwyn Infant And Nursery 123,677 137,835 12.1% 14,158 46,612
Bisham Ce Primary (76,942) (50,196) -19.1% 26,746
Boyne Hill Ce Infant 87,464 73,289 7.7% (14,175)
Braywood CE First 83,545 45,464 7.9% (38,081)
Cheapside CE Primary 21,793 9,861 2.1% (11,932)
Clewer Green CE 30,549 37,948 3.5% 7,399
Cookham Dean CE Primary 25,122 27,496 4.0% 2,374
Cookham Rise Primary 70,433 80,312 9.8% 9,879 15,028
Courthouse Junior 107,632 159,514 10.7% 51,882 40,060
Dedworth Green First 47,675 66,491 8.1% 18,816 1,124
Riverside Primary 196,287 150,251 12.5% (46,036) 53,740
Eton Wick CE First 14,093 7,693 1.2% (6,400)
Furze Platt Infant 119,375 109,995 10.8% (9,380) 28,702
Furze Platt Junior 53,029 68,428 5.6% 15,399
Hilltop First 236,630 124,692 13.1% (111,938) 48,477
Holy Trinity Cookham Primary 34,998 70,324 9.0% 35,326 7,775
Holy Trinity Sunningdale Primary 24,521 61,670 7.2% 37,149
Holyport CE Primary 87,194 43,408 3.2% (43,786)
Homer First 40,636 86,748 9.8% 46,112 15,764
Kings Court First 91,177 97,864 11.3% 6,687 28,281
Larchfield Primary & Nursery 50,893 99,065 10.8% 48,172 25,643
Oakfield First (25,292) 27,482 2.4% 52,774
Oldfield Primary 28,306 70,241 5.9% 41,935
The Queen Anne Royal Free CE 58,277 51,635 8.5% (6,642) 2,814
St Edmund Campion RC Primary 73,575 122,309 8.6% 48,734 9,147
St Edwards Catholic First 101,355 94,481 9.6% (6,874) 15,917
St Michaels CE Primary 170,614 84,446 10.6% (86,168) 20,804
South Ascot Village Primary 86,434 128,131 14.2% 41,697 56,156
The Royal (Crown Aided) 34,877 35,304 7.9% 427
Trinity St Stephen CE First 47,147 28,917 4.8% (18,230)
Waltham St Lawrence Primary 6,700 5,744 1.2% (956)
Wessex Primary 48,500 2,232 0.1% (46,268)
Woodlands Park Primary 2,403 51,155 7.3% 48,752
Wraysbury Primary 109,678 162,630 11.5% 52,952 49,403

2,373,813 2,672,717 (50,196) 7.9% 248,708 577,039

Secondary
Churchmead 283,423 98,019 4.2% (185,404)
Dedworth Middle 15,945 26,812 1.3% 10,867
St Edwards Royal Free Middle 153,310 145,451 7.9% (7,859) 53,540
Trevelyan Middle 34,630 122,919 6.5% 88,289 28,449

487,308 393,201 0 4.8% (94,107) 81,988

Special
 Manor Green 271,715 417,811 6.7% 146,096

271,715 417,811 6.7% 146,096 0

Total 3,277,428 3,680,066 (50,196) 7.5% 352,442 789,222

2015-16

%age of  
16-17 
Budget 

2014-15

Cookham Nursery balance includes £134k in grant income which it receives separately from its individual budget 
share for being a Teacher Training School. 45



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	3 Minutes
	$$MDocPackPublic.version0001
	Minutes


	4 Growth Fund 2016-17 to 2018-19
	6 2015-16 Schools Budget Outturn, DSG Reserve, & School Balances

